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MAP OF LAOS 
 

The administrative boundaries indicated on this map do not correspond exactly to those from before 1975; 
these differences are nevertheless without importance for the history of the martyrs. 
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SEVENTEEN WITNESSES 

OF THE CHURCH IN LAOS 

 

 

 

1. Father Joseph ThӴo TiԒn 
born on 5.12.1918 at Muang Xôi (Houaphan) 
diocesan priest thaï-deng of the Vicariate of Thanh Hóa 
died on  2.6.1954 at Ban Talang (Houaphan), Vicariate de Vientiane. 

2. Father Jean-Baptiste Malo, m.e.p. 
born on 2.6.1899 at La Grigonnais, diocese of Nantes (France) 
priest of the Foreign Missions of Paris in China and in Laos 
died on 28.3.1954 at Yên H i֥ (VȈ Quang, H¨ Tǫnh), diocese of Vinh (Viêt-nam). 

3. Father René Dubroux, m.e.p. 
born on 28.11.1914 at Haroué, diocese of Nancy (France) 
diocesan priest of Saint-Dié (France) and then of the Foreign Missions of Paris 
died on 19.12.1959 at Palay, Vicariate of Paksé. 

4. The Hmong catechist Shiong Tho [Thoj Xyooj, Khamsè] 
born in 1941 at Kiukatiam (Louang Prabang) 
died on 1.5.1960 at Muang Kasy (today the Province of Vientiane), 
   Vicariate of Louang Prabang. 

5. Father Mario Borzaga, o.m.i. 
born on 27.8.1932 at Trent (Italy) 
Missionary Oblate of Mary Immaculate 
died on 1.5.1960 at Muang Kasy (today the Province of Vientiane), 
   Vicariate of Louang Prabang. 

6. Father Louis Leroy, o.m.i. 
born on 8.10.1923 at Ducey, diocese of Coutances (France) 
Missionary Oblate of Mary Immaculate 
died on 18.4.1961 at Ban Pha (Xieng Khouang), Vicariate de Vientiane.  

7. Father Michel Coquelet, o.m.i. 
born on 18.8.1931 at Wignehies, diocese of Cambrai (France) 
Missionary Oblate of Mary Immaculate 
died on 20.4.1961 at Sop Xieng (Xieng Khouang), Vicariate of Vientiane.  

8. The catechist Joseph Outhay Phongphumi, widower 
born in 1933 at Kham Koem, diocese of Thare & Nongseng (Thailand) 
died on 27.4.1961 at Phalane (Savannakhet), Vicariate of Savannakhet. 

9. Father Noël Tenaud, m.e.p. 
born on 11.11.1904 at Rocheservière, diocese de Luçon (France) 
priest of the Foreign Missions of Paris in Siam et in Laos 
died on 27.4.1961 at Phalane (Savannakhet), Vicariate of Savannakhet. 

10. Father Vincent LôH®noret, o.m.i. 
born on 12.3.1921 at Pont lôAbb®, diocese of Quimper (France) 
Missionary Oblate of Mary Immaculate 
died on 11.5.1961 at Ban Ban / Muang Kham (Xieng Khouang), Vicariate of Vientiane.  
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11. Father Marcel Denis, m.e.p. 
born on 7.8.1919 at Alençon, diocese of Séez (France) 
priest of the Foreign Missions of Paris 
died on 31.7.1961 at Kham Hè (Gnommalath, Khammouane), Vicariate of 
Savannakhet. 

12. Father Jean Wauthier, o.m.i. 
born on 22.3.1926 at Fourmies, diocese of Cambrai (France) 
Missionary Oblate of Mary Immaculate 
died on 16.12.1967 at Ban Na (Xieng Khouang), Vicariate of Vientiane.  

13. The student catechist lavên Thomas Khampheuane Inthirath 
born in May 1952 at Nong Sim (Champassak), Vicariate of Paksé 
died on 12.5.1968 at Paksong (Champassak), Vicariate of Paksé. 

14. Father Lucien Galan, m.e.p. 
born on 9.12.1921 at Golinhac, diocese of Rodez (France) 
priest of the Foreign Missions of Paris in Chine and in Laos 
died on 12.5.1968 at Paksong (Champassak), Vicariate of Paksé. 

15. Father Joseph Boissel, o.m.i. 
born on 20.12.1909 at Loroux, archdiocese of Rennes (France) 
Missionary Oblate of Mary Immaculate 
died on 5.7.1969 at Hat I-Et (Bolikhamsay), Vicariate of Vientiane. 

16. The Kmhmuô catechist Luc Sy, father of a family 
born in 1938 at Ban Pa Hôk / Kung Hrông Tnéc (Xieng Khouang) 
died on 7.3.1970 at Dène Din (Prov. of Vientiane), Vicariate of Vientiane. 

17. The saravat Maisam óK¯oô Pho Inp¯ng, Kmhmuô layman, father of a family 
born in about 1934 near Sam Neua (Houaphan) 
died on 7.3.1970 at Dène Din (Prov. of Vientiane), Vicariate of Vientiane. 

 
Nota bene: 1. The Hmong catechist Thoj Xyooj and Father Mario Borzaga, o.m.i., were the subjects of 

a separate diocesan inquiry begun in the Archdiocese of Trent (Italy). 
 2. In the entire text, the term ñbishopò is used to indicate the hierarchical rank of the persons 

thus named. In Laos, the bishops have the title and the function of Apostolic Vicars. For 
example, when on says ñbishop of Paks®,ò one should understand it to mean ñbishop, Apostolic 
Vicar of Paks®.ò 
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I  

 

A watchman at the front :  

 

 

Father  Mario Borzaga, o.m.i.  

 

(1932 ï 1960)  

 

 

Addio, monti sorgenti dallôacque, ed elevati al cielo; cime inuguali,  
note a chi è cresciuto tra voi, e impresse nella sua mente... 

Chi dava a voi tanta giocondit¨ ¯ per tutto e non turba mai la gioia deô suoi figli  
se non per prepararne loro una più certa e più grande. 

Alessandro Manzoni, I Promessi Sposi, cap. VIII 

 

 

You, son of man, I have appointed watchman for the house of Israel;  
 when you hear me say anything, you shall warn them for me.. 

Ézékiel, 33, 7 
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Father Mario Borzaga, o.m.i. 

Witness of Christ in Laos, 

Presumed to have died a martyr about 1 May 1960 at Muang Kassy (Laos) 
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ñI prayed, I succeeded at my studies, and I dreamedéò 

Mario BORZAGA was born in 1932 in Trent, at the foot of the mountains in northern Italy. He 

was the youngest of a family of four children: three boys and a girl. 

He had an lively personality and the solid build of the mountain people. In his native city, he 

was known to like adventure: he loved to climb trees, race through the streets on a bicycle that 

was too big for him, and walk in the mountains. 

Growing up in a family atmosphere that was deeply Christian, he felt the attraction of the 

priesthood. He went to the diocesan minor seminary. Remembering this period, he wrote: ñI 

loved Jesus in the sacraments, and Mary. I prayed, I succeeded at my studies, and I dreamedéò 

When he entered the major seminary, his love of nature remained intact. Thanks to that, he 

learned to observe people and things in a penetrating way; and he regularly noted his 

observations in his journal. 

In a well-known photo sent from Laos, one sees Mario seated at the typewriter; the expression 

on his face is one of deep concentration and attention to his task. He filled many a page, in fact, 

in the course of his brief missionary life: today, his journal and his letters are a treasure which 

reveals, besides his activities, also his internal journey. His fellow seminarians would later say 

that they were already aware of this growing spiritual depth; they guessed that it would lead 

Mario to a deeper commitment. 

 

A missionary dream 

He was just 20 years old when a missionary came to speak to the seminarians. Mario listened 

to him attentively and he became aware that God was calling him to the foreign missions: his 

vocation would be that of a Missionary Oblate. The Oblates, a congregation founded in France 

in 1816 by Saint Eugene de Mazenod, was, in fact, sending missionaries into many countries. 

To realize this vocation, Mario knew that it was necessary to cut the close ties which joined 

him to his family and to his friends. It was in that spirit that in 1952 he began his year of 

novitiate. This is how he defined it: ñIt is a year when you will test your ability to give yourself 

completely to the Lord. It is a year when you learn to renounce self, to empty yourself 

completely of self, like you would empty a waste basket, without regrets.ò 

Then Mario prepared himself for missionary life through several years of study. During these 

years, he had a precise spiritual goal: to let himself be fashioned as much as possible to the 

image of Christ the priest, victim and apostle. He wished to achieve this through the Eucharist 

and Mary Immaculate: the Eucharist as the broken bread, fruit of the sacrifice on the Cross -- 

that is to say, of love; Mary Immaculate, because she gave Jesus to the world. Mario wished to 

imitate her to the extent of becoming a missionary like her and bearer of Christ the Savior. 

From that time, the thought of martyrdom was present in his spirit. 

Mario was ordained a priest in 1957. It was a beautiful celebration for his family and his parish. 

The same year, the Oblates of Italy sent their first team of missionaries to Laos. Mario, with 

the heart of an apostle, was chosen to be part of the group and he accepted joyfully: his dream 

was going to be realized. He confided his feelings in his journal: ñFeast of the Visitation. One 

of the most important days of my life: I have received the obedience for Laos. I will go in the 

name of the Lord. Immaculate Virgin, help me! Jesus, Jesus, Jesus, I want to belong to you, 

like Peter, Paul, Barnabas, Luke, James and John.ò 

 

In Laos: disappointment 



Page 8 of 131 

 

Arriving in one of the poorest countries in the world, with a small number of Christians, was a 

shock for him. He spent his first year in the mission of Kengsadok. There, he had to learn the 

language, the local culture and missionary life. His missionary zeal was just waiting to be used. 

He loved to be with the people; he wanted to learn everything from them as quickly as possible 

so he could proclaim to them the Gospel of salvation. 

In reality, it was a very difficult year. He felt isolated, lost, far from his compatriots and his 

friends. He tried very hard to learn Lao, but he was unable to communicate with the people, 

unable also to really exercise his priestly ministry. 

This situation made him feel useless. He writes in his journal: ñMy cross ï it is myself; I am 

my own cross. My cross is the language which I do not manage to learn. My cross is my shyness 

which keeps me from pronouncing a single word in Laotian.ò He was thus getting a taste of the 

great difficulty of being a foreign missionary. But in his pain, he sought the presence of God. 

He wrote this prayer: ñEverything belongs to you, Lord, even the anxiety, the suffering, the 

regret, the darknessé I love you because you are Love.ò 

 

Kiukatiam 

Mario Borzaga was 26 years old when he was sent to his first mission post. Kiukatiam was a 

Hmong village, some 80 km from Louang Prabang, along the route that goes in the direction 

of Xieng Khouang and Vietnam and which they then called the Astrid Road. Mario followed 

there a seasoned Oblate missionary whom he greatly esteemed, Father Yves Bertrais: the 

foundations of Christianity had been solidly laid. Helped at first by Father René Charrier, 

o.m.i., Mario took to the task with his whole heart: he did all he could to be up to the task by 

following the example of the two older priests. 

From 1959, he was in charge. Teaching catechism, teaching how to pray, visiting families, 

receiving the sick persons who daily gathered at the door of the mission dispensary: that is how 

Mario spent his time and his strength. He was also put in charge of the formation of young 

Hmong catechists. He was in a hurry, like someone who already knew that the apostleôs life 

was short, and that it should be entirely spent for the Kingdom of God. 

But he did not have the experience, and often the needs threatened to be more than he could 

handle: how to take care of those who were already Christians without neglecting those who 

were still far off? How to direct a school for the formation of new catechists, all the while 

studying Hmong, a new language so different from Lao? How each day to take care of the long 

lines of sick and at the same time, respond to the demands of far-off villages which the Gospel 

had not yet reached? 

These were hard challenges, and Mario often felt the crushing weight of his responsibilities. It 

was in his great love for Jesus that he found the needed strength to believe again, to not give 

up. Yes, he was at that place because God wanted it. He wrote: ñWe missionaries are made that 

way: for it is normal to leave; it is necessary to move around. Tomorrow the roads will be our 

houses. If we are forced to stop temporarily in a house, we transform it into a road that leads to 

God.ò 
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Mario Borzaga (last one on the right) among the Hmong. 
The other missionary is Bishop Alessandro Staccioli, o.m.i. ï The catechist Thoj Xyooj is the one with the pompom hat. 

Bishop Étienne Loosdregt, o.m.i., had invited all his missionaries to be prepared for 

persecution. In August 1959, Mario confided his thoughts to his journal: ñAll of us, all of us 

know the instruction given by the Holy See in time of persecution. What will happen to us? 

Nothing, because we are in the hands of God. So be calm.ò The instructions were to remain at 

oneôs missionary post, in solidarity with the faithful. 

 

Portrait of a missionary 

The Oblate confreres who got to know him at this time paint a nuanced and very positive 

portrait. Father René Charrier said: 

ñMario was big and shy, but also very kind and generous. He never refused a service. 

He was very modest and did all that he could not to stand out. I remember an episode: 

I had left with Mario to go buy some medicines. After two hours walking, I noticed that 

I had left the money at home. In spite of my protests, Mario went back immediately; a 

great walker, he arrived at the meeting place at the same time that I did. 

ñHe actively studied the language but did not speak much with the people. When they 

were taken aback, I had to explain that he was still learning. After my departure, when 

he had been put in charge of the mission, he undoubtedly had more self-assurance. In 

any case, the Hmong loved him. He was a hard and courageous worker, with the 

personality of a mountaineer. He was talented in various areas, for example in singing. 

He had composed a very beautiful Salve Regina.ò 

Fr. Jean Hanique, o.m.i., adds: ñFather Mario Borzaga was remarkable in his missionary 

apostolate. He was a good person, a leader, and truly serious man. He was always on target for 

the mission. I was his provincial and I had an excellent general impression of him.ò 

The Hmong gave Father Mario Borzaga the nickname in their language: ñSerious and sincere 

heart.ò 

Among the young student catechists whom Mario had with him, their recollections are 
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imprinted with a lot of tenderness toward the one who was a real father to them. One of them 

wrote: ñFather Mario Borzaga was very patient and had a good heart. He loved everyone. He 

understood a little Hmong; I am the one who taught him.ò Others testify: 

ñI lived with the Father about a year. I was only 16 and did not know how to build a 

house. We went to talk to the Father. For a house of 6 by 8 meters, he calculated on a 

piece of paper that for the tiles, the wood, etc., it would cost 9 bars of silver. I agreed; 

then we went to cut some big trees and we brought them for the Father to saw. There 

was also a Brother there to help Father Borzaga: they sawed the wood to build my house 

and we put it up. 

ñWhen we finished, I was so tired that I was seeing double in looking at the mountains; 

I was dizzy in the head when I got up, as if I were going to fall. The Father gave me 

some medicine to drink, 10 drops in some water. It was clear as alcohol and very acidic. 

After a few days, my head returned to normal. Then each evening, after the meal, we 

went to learn to sing the prayers with Father Borzaga. He had a beautiful and strong 

voice.ò  

Another says: ñHe was very kind, smiling, and handsome. He was very available. He 

took good care of the sick and watched attentively over his student catechists who had 

come from other areas to study with him. We lived in a little house situated behind his. 

He bought us some clothes and some flashlights. He was very patient and never got 

angry; he was quite determined. He watched over us. The one in charge, who was older 

than we were, was often invited to his table.ò 

 

The final call 

The missionary experience of Mario Borzaga was brief: he would never arrive at his 28th 

birthday. From the end of April till the beginning of May 1960, the adventure was going to 

come to its climax in the solitude of the forest, along a mountain path, as he returned from an 

apostolic journey with one of his students ï undoubtedly the biggest rebel of them all ï the 
young Hmong, Thoj Xyooj (▼Ɽ▒♇■, Shiong). 

On Sunday, April 24, 1960, after the Mass, Mario was getting ready to treat the ill at the 

dispensary. A small group of Hmong presented themselves and asked him to come to their 

village, situated a three-day walk to the south. They said they were interested in religion. 

Without a doubt, there was also the question of giving some medical attention: among other 

things, it was question of caring for the dying father of a young postulant who was studying 

with the Sisters at Xieng Khuang. It was not the first time that some possible converts made 

this approach, but up till now, Mario felt he had to refuse so as not to leave his young intern, 

Antonio Zanoni, o.m.i., alone in the village. This time, he could take the occasion because two 

other Oblates were there for the Easter vacation: Fathers Bramante Marchiol and Pierre 

Chevroulet. 

It seems that the thing was not discussed much; Mario was a man of decision: he promised 

these people he would follow them the next day. His plan was to visit several villages in the 

same area and go up the Mekong valley to the west to Luang Prabang -- a good missionary 

visit before the start of the rainy season. He invited the young catechist Xyooj, who was still 

single, to go with him; He promised to be back after a week or two. 

 

A journey toward death 
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On Monday, April 25, 1960, feast of Saint Mark the Evangelist, they set off, bringing the Good 

News of Jesus and his love for the poor and the sick. Among the witnesses of the departure, 

there was the young Tito Banchong, future Apostolic Administrator of the Vicariate of Luang 

Prabang, then 12 years old. They saw Mario leaving, carrying his backpack, wearing a beret, 

dressed all in black like a Hmong; after just a few hundred meters, he disappeared with his 

partner around the corner to plunge into the bush and go down towards the Nam Ming River. 

His parishioners and his colleagues would never see them again, neither him nor his catechist. 

The days, the weeks passed. What had happened? The investigation begun when their 

disappearance was evident revealed nothing certain. It was known only that he had arrived at 

the intended village, Ban Xua Phoua; there he had treated patients, and he then left with the 

catechist, promising to return a few months later. They were headed for the town of Muang 

Kassi, where they hoped to find a boat or a passing truck. It was also known that guerrilla 

elements had infiltrated the area and moved around there unimpeded. 

In fact, it took more than forty years for tongues to begin to loosen, so that we could begin to 

reconstruct the tragic events of those days. Those who indirectly provided details of the last 

moments were members of the guerrillas. They were very young at that time. 

 

Journey toward life 

On May 1 in Muang Met, a Lao and Kmhmuô village between Ban Phoua Xua and Muang 

Kassi, a patrol of guerrillas met Mario, whom they considered an ñAmericanò, and his young 

companion. Today we cannot know if it was coincidence or if they had been betrayed by some 

people of the village, guerrilla sympathizers. The guerillas hated all that, in their view, was 

American and even Christian or white. Some Kmhmuô of village had warned the travelers to 

leave quickly. 

It was as they left the village that they were taken. They tied the Fatherôs hands and forearms 

behind his back, and said harsh things to him. The young catechist shouted: ñDo not kill him, 

heôs not an American but an Italian, and heôs a very good priest, very kind to everyone. He 

does only good things.ò They would not believe him: they decided to kill them without further 

ado, but quietly, without witnesses, a little away from the village. They brutally beat the 

catechist to silence him. 

During this time, Mario remained calm and silent, like Jesus before his accusers ï like a lamb 

brought to be slaughtered. 

A former soldier recounts:  

ñOn the path along the Mun Phou ridge, we met an American spy, accompanied by a 

Hmong. We forced them to dig a hole. It was I who shot them. The Hmong died 

instantly but the American, falling into the hole, cried: óWhy have you shot me, the 

Father?ô Without waiting, we covered them with earth; then we rummaged through the 

backpack of the American. There was not much: some granulated cords with two pieces 

of crossed iron, some pictures of a radiant woman, alone or with a child, and those of a 

man with the heart on the outside...ò 

Rosaries, images of the Sacred Heart of Jesus and of the Virgin Mary -- that was the 

missionaryôs treasure, his only weapons. That May 1 was a Sunday. It is probable that in the 

non-Christian village, Mario had celebrated, alone with his catechist, a very early Mass: it was 

his viaticum. 

Mario Borzagaôs former student catechists also give their testimony: 
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ñIn April  1960, he went to his death, and I watched over his house and took care of his 

animals till July. Then they came to kill all his animals, chickens, pigsé They took all 

the Mass wine, took all his clothes and wrecked the house. I had to get out of the house 

and flee into the forest. 

ñI love him and I always think of him: he had a good heart and was very patient. He 

loved everyone; he loved me and he is dead. I wept and I still weep. Actually, I always 

think of him because he is like my father. I believe and I am sure that he is praying the 

good God to help me each day. I am sure and I am confident that Xyooj and he are with 

the good God; because those two had a path that was too hard. Xyooj and the Father 

are surely saints on earth and eternally in heaven.ò 

Why this crime? Another of his former students declares:  

ñWe are all convinced. As a student catechist of Father Mario, I firmly declare that he 

was killed because he was going to that village to expel the spirits and let the people 

embrace Christianity. He was killed because he had gone to proclaim the Good News 

of Jesus and to care for the sick.ò 

 

The dream of a man called to happiness 

Those who killed Mario Borzaga interrupted forever on this earth the wonderful dream of this 

young missionary. But the sweat, the tears and the blood of this young man today bear their 

fruits in the lives of those who knew him or are learning to know him. In the true life, before 

God, his dream is being realized. 

Father Mario Borzaga has left a spiritual testament of great value. His life gives evidence that 

the missionary vocation is a veritable path to holiness. Yes, to give oneôs life for the poor, in 

living the command to love, can lead to perfection: ñI want to develop in myself a faith and a 

love as deep and solid as a rock,ò he had written. ñWithout that, I cannot be a martyr: faith and 

love are indispensable. There is nothing other to do than to believe and to love.ò 

Just before making his perpetual oblation in 1956, Mario had described in his journal the dream 

of happiness that he had for his life: 

ñI have realized my vocation: to be a happy man, even in the effort to identify myself 

with the crucified Christ. How much suffering remains, Lord? Only you know, and I, 

at any moment of my life, I say fiat voluntas tua, 'Thy will be done.ô I want to be, like 

the Eucharist, a good bread to be eaten by my brothers, their divine food. So I have to 

go first through the death on the cross. First the sacrifice; then the joy of giving myself 

to my brothers throughout the world ... 

ñIf , without first converting myself through sacrifice, I were to give myself to my 

brothers who are hungry for God, I would be only giving them human trash, the dregs 

of hell. But if I accept my death in union with that of Jesus, it is Jesus himself that I can 

give with my own hands to my brothers. It is therefore not so much renouncing myself 

as reinforcing all in me that is capable of suffering, of being immolated, of being 

sacrificed for the souls that Jesus has given me to love.ò (Father Mario Borzaga, OMI, 

Diario di un uomo felice, at the date of 17 November 1956). 

 

* * *  

For further reading 
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G. CELLUCCI, P. Mario Borzaga missionario oblato di Maria Immacolata, martire nel Laos, testimonianze raccolte e coordinate 
da G. Cellucci, Roma, M.G.M., 1995 
F. CIARDI, Il Sogno e la realtà ï Mario Borzaga, martire, Milan, Àncora, 2000. 
G. DRAGO, Un eroe del Laos: dalle lettere del p. Mario Borzaga, O.M.I., Rome, Missioni O.M.I., 1965 
N. FERRARA, Biographie de Mario Borzaga (en italien ï en préparation). 
 
Ą A more developed bibliography can be found on the internet: http://www.marioborzaga.it/bibliografia.html 
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II  

 

Trusting to the end:  

 

 

Father Louis Leroy, o.m.i.  

 

(1923 ï 1961)  

 
Biographical Notes 

 
Provisional text by Roland Jacques, o.m.i., 

Diocesan Postulator 
 
 
 

Postulation des Martyrs du Laos 
94120 Fontenay-sous-Bois, France 

November 2011 

 

 

 

 

Trusting others is already killing oneself a bit. 

Louis-Ferdinand Céline, Voyage au bout de la nuit (Livre de Poche, 1952, p. 184) 

 

Trust is one of manôs divine possibilities. 

Henry de Montherlant, Service inutile (Paris, Grasset, 1935, p. 33) 
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Father Louis Leroy, o.m.i. (1923 ï 1961) 

Witness of Jesus Christ in Laos, 

Presumed to have died a martyr on 18 April 1961 at à Ban Pha (Laos) 
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Louisô young years 

Louis LEROY was born on October 8, 1923, in Normandy (France), in the village of Ducey 

(50). He was baptized on the next day in the parish church of the village which belonged to the 

diocese of Coutances. He was the oldest of a rural family of four children. 

In 1932, Louis was 9 years old. His father died. His mother then moved with her four children 

to a farm at Villiers-le-Pré. The town church was rather far away; his family attended the parish 

church in Carnet, where one day he would celebrate his first solemn Mass. 

Being the oldest of the boys, after attending primary school in the town of Villiers-le-Pré, Louis 

worked on the family farm for ten years. After his military service, at the age of 22, he turned 

his attention toward missionary life which he had desired for a long time. He was admitted to 

the juniorate of the Missionary Oblates of Mary Immaculate at Pontmain for two and a half 

years of remedial secondary studies. 

Endowed with a strong practical intelligence, he would never succeed in mastering Latin, and 

he suffered over that. He made up for this handicap by the earnestness which he put into 

everything he did. On the report, the superior wrote: ñApplies himself well, with average 

results.ò From then on, headaches would afflict him the entire time of his studies. 

In 1947, with a friend and future missionary in Cameroon, he made a pilgrimage from Pontmain 

to Lisieux: 150 kilometers on foot to pray at the tomb of Saint Therese of the Child Jesus, 

patroness of the missions. That same year, he confided to another friend, with the calm 

assurance that greatly astonished him: ñI joined the Oblates to go to a difficult mission where 

I might be able to die a martyr.ò 

In 1948-1949, he was at the novitiate at La Brosse-Montceaux (Seine-et-Marne), a place made 

famous by the massacre of five Oblates by the Nazis in 1945. 

His novice master sketches his moral portrait: ñVery respectable, hard on himself and on others. 

Good enough intelligence, more practical than speculative; has the good sense of a Norman 

peasant which no one can sway; stubbornness which is softened by great charity and 

docilityéò 

The portrait is completed by one of his companions: ñLouis Leroy was very serious about 

everything, very focused on his studies and his spiritual life. He was very joyful, very brotherly. 

He was a friend. His desire for the foreign missions was very strong.ò 

There were then six years of philosophy and theology at Solignac1 (Haute-Vienne). A 

classmate, also of peasant origins, describes their friendship and adds: 

ñI considered Father Leroy very serious and much focused on all that he did: studies, 

prayer, and community life. He was very devoted to his missionary vocation. It could 

be said that the idea of martyrdom was one of his dreams. He was also joyful and liked 

to laugh, but always sincerely.ò 

One of his professors, in remembering him, speaks of an event that must have marked the life 

of Louis:  

ñFather Louis Leroy kept the calm and the balance of his peasant origins. I have one 

particular recollection about him: when the Carmelite Sisters of Limoges moved from 

                                                 
1  Solignac is located ten kilometers south of Limoges. Founded in 631, the abbey had survived through many 

ups and downs, until the French Revolution. From 1939 to 1945, it housed the Normal School of Teachers of 

Obernai in Free France. There, in 1946, the Missionary Oblates established their house of studies (major 

seminary or scholasticate). Students seriously participated in the restoration of the premises and construction 

of the large building needed to house a hundred young religious. 
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the city to the country, he helped them organize their farm and their crops. After he 

went to Laos, he continued to support them with his prayer and his advice. After his 

death, he continued helping them and some Sisters speak of him admiringly.ò 

On September 29, 1952, Louis made his perpetual oblation. On July 4, 1954, he was ordained 

a priest at Solignac Abbey. He wrote then to the Superior General of the Oblates: 

ñBefore I knew the Oblates, I was attracted by the Asian missions, and it was for these 

missions that I decided to leave behind my occupation as a farmeré The knowledge of 

the Oblate missions led me to want Laos, and the difficulties which this mission has 

encountered and will encounter even more have only made my desire for this country 

to growé I would receive my obedience for Laos with great joy if you think it would 

be good to send me thereéò 

His marching orders for Laos is dated June 11, 1955. 

 

A missionary with a generous heart 

The six years of Father Louis in Laos are mostly known through his correspondence which he 

maintained with the Carmelites of Limoges: he gives his advice for the little dairy business of 

the sisters and tells them of his joys, his hopes and his missionary challenges. He was patiently 

studying the languages ï Lao and Kmhmuô, and later, Thaµ Dam ï but was handicapped by 

premature deafness. He admits that he had achieved ñaverageò results; but that was 

compensated for by his quality of friendliness and his smile, by his untiring devotion to the 

service of the sick, by his love of the poorest, and by his patience for sinners. 

Having arrived in Laos in November 1955, he was sent shortly afterwards to Xieng Khouang. 

After a year, perplexed by the multiple languages and dialects of this region, he asked to spend 

some months in the Mekong valley to better familiarize himself with the official Lao language, 

spoken on the plain. He did this extended period at Tha Ngon, near Vientiane. 

At the end of 1957, Father Louis returned for good to Xieng Khouang. From there, he reached 

his final posting at Ban Pha in the mountains. It was still a neophyte village, evangelized by 

Father Joseph Boiseel, o.m.i. Thaï Dam was spoken there, a language new to him! All around, 

there were several Christian villages of the Kmhmuô language, as well as a large area to look 

into, where the Gospel had not yet penetrated. 

During the following three and a half years, Father Louis scrupulously updated the journal of 

the mission, called the ñcodex historicusò among the Oblates. He tells there of his joys and his 

sorrows as a missionary; he expresses his sorrow in view of the tepidity and the lack of 

constancy of certain Christians; he especially gives there a testimony of his constant faith and 

of his unlimited devotion. 

Tirelessly, while continuing to instruct the community of Ban Pha, he visits villages entrusted 

to him, at two, three or five hours walking distance, in all weather, on impossible paths. He 

writes: 

I happened to spend the night in pagan villages to try to let them know about our religion 

but, at least apparently, what I said did not seem to interest them much... [The 

missionary] realizes quickly that only the grace of almighty God can convert a soul. 
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Father Louis Leroy, o.m.i., in his missionary uniform 

And in another letter: 

From July 1, 1959, until July 1, 1960, there were 73 baptisms of which 37 adultsé 

About 3,000 persons have come seeking care; sometimes itôs a question of mild cases, 

sometimes serious cases; and to make that happen, at least 3,000 kilometers on foot, 

carrying a backpack Some days, itôs hard, especially when my health is not so great, 

but I am very happy to be working in this area.   

 

The final act 

During the general guerilla offensive in April 1961, his presence had been reported to the 

assailants by persons who looked disapprovingly upon the Christian presence in the area. 

On April 18, 1961, Father Louis Leroy was praying in his poor church. A detachment of 

guerilla soldiers came looking for him. According to the villagers, he knows that his departure 

would be final: he asks to put on his cassock; he puts his cross in his cincture; he takes his 

breviary under his arm and says farewell. Head bare and barefoot, he follows the soldiers on 

the uneven path. 
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According to a witness, Louis Leroy was interrogated, beaten and burned on his face till it was 

disfigured. Some Christians from another village who were passing through there saw the scene 

from afar, but they did not recognize him. A bit later, some shots were heard in the forest and 

it was overé His dream as a young man had come true. 

Many years later, a non-Christian of the village would tell a Laotian priest, detained with him 

in a camp, about his hatred for priests, and he would tell him: ñThey killed him, the one from 
Ban Pha le Haut ï ♥▒♇☿ ▒Ⱡ☿ ◒☼◄ ◓♯♆ ○Ⱡ☿◄◌☿ ♥Ⱳ♄◙!ò 

The makeshift grave was found some days later by some devoted parishioners. Only two years 

later, an Oblate was able to visit and rapidly bless ité It is now found in a rice paddy which a 

Christian woman bought in memory of Father Leroy. Yes, the good seed of the Gospel has 

been buried in Laotian land, awaiting the time to grow. 

According to comments gathered later, Louis could have easily escaped. When the royal troops 

abandoned the village of Ban Pha, the soldiers insisted that he leave with them. He calmly 

refused, saying that it was his duty to stay with his people, according to orders received from 

his superiors. He added: ñI am ready to die for the Lord ï Pho nhom tai pheua Phrachao.ò A 

young man who had been part of that detachment states that he had come back only two hours 

later, at risk of his life, to try again to convince him to leave. Upon the arrival of the soldiers 

from the other camp, his neighbor Anna, a Christian woman totally devoted to the mission, 

begged him in her turn. But it was in vain. 

Louis Leroy, like his confreres, strictly adhered to the Roman order to stay in the midst of the 

Christians, even at the risk of putting oneôs life in danger (in fact, the order to withdraw by his 

provincial superior was already on the way, but the messenger did not arrive in time). He was 

heroically living his consecration as a missionary religious, literally interpreting the solemn 

call of the Founder of the Oblates, Saint Eugene de Mazenod, to his sons: ñ[The Oblates] feel 

themselves called to renounce themselves entirelyé ready to sacrifice all their goods, their 

talents, ease, self, even their life, for the love of Jesus Christ, the service of the Church, and the 

sanctification of their brethren.ò 

 

A letter from Father Louis Leroy to the Carmelite Sisters of Limoges (1959) 

[é] Having a little free time today, something that does not happen often, I am going 

to give you some news about me and my area. 

You have probably heard on the radio and in the papers about what is happening in 

Laos. Presently, as far as one can tell, itôs rather calm; in my village, once about seven 

hundred soldiers passed through. They said nothing, neither to me nor to the people. 

For the future, we know nothing; so we carry on as in the past, having confidence in 

the Good God. 

As for me, my spirits are excellent; I am very happy about my hard but splendid 

missionary life. My former desires, about missionary life in the bush, have been fully 

realized. As for my apostolate, I have a lot of work to do. During the past year, I 

distributed more than 4,000 communions; heard more than 2,000 confessions; baptized 

19. This number will be higher next year because I am instructing 70 catechumens, the 

majority of whom could be baptized around Easter 1960. 

Does that mean to say that everything is perfect? ï Certainly not. Lately, an apostate 

Christian woman let her baby of 10 months die without being baptized. An apostate 

Christian has gotten himself initiated into witchcraft. Another man, baptized last year, 

has practically never set foot in church since he became a Christian. In one of my 
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villages, where the Christians are a minority among the pagans, the sorcerers are 

active and succeed in upsetting one or the other Christian, telling him that when he is 

sick, only his return to the cult of the spirits can heal him. Fortunately, this wicked 

advice is not always heeded. 

The sick and injured monopolize a lot of time and require long and tiring journeys. 

Among the patients I treat, a Christian who was burned on the face, hands and knee. I 

traveled for him three times; now, to go, it takes three and half hours of walking in the 

mountains, and wounded or sick of this kind are not very rare. 

The many pagans who surround me, whom I meet each day, who come to be cared for, 

have not decided to become Christians. 

So thatôs a little glance at my area which, once again, I earnestly commend to your 

prayers. Pray also for me, so that the good God might accomplish through me all the 

good that He wants to accomplish. 

[é] I leave you now, telling you that my prayers for all your intentions are more 

frequent ï and how much more! ï than my letters. No day passes that I do not speak of 

you to the Lord and the Most Holy Virgin, in whom I repeat my religious devotion 

Louis Leroy, o.m.i. 
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The last days and the death of Father Louis 

as told by Bishop Étienne Loosdregt, Vicar Apostolic of Vientiane 

This account of events was written for the missionaries. It is based on the testimony, absolutely 
trustworthy, of Anna Boun, the young Christian woman of Ban Pha mentioned above. The text 
has been slightly adapted to make it more understandable and accessible to a wider audience, 
and ensure consistency of vocabulary. 

 

On Saturday, April 15, 1961, around 5 pm, guerilla troops come into Ban Pha, after two 

or three days of fighting in the area and some artillery fire. Sunday (the second Sunday 

after Easter) and Monday are calm. The soldiers move around in the village, and 

political agents begin their propaganda and ask many questions about the Father: ñIs he 

in touch with the Americans? Has he helped the right-wing party? The Hmong? Is he a 

spy? Doesnôt he have a transmitter or weapons?ò Some come to take a curious look at 

the mission, exchange a few words with the Father. 

On Tuesday morning, April 18, Father Leroy celebrates Mass and takes breakfast as 

usual. At around 9:30, the soldiers surround the house. They order Anna, the neighbor, 

to call the Father. She finds him in the chapel. He goes out to meet the leaders, at the 

gate of the enclosure. They tell him that a radio order from the government has arrived, 

an order for the Father to go to the Mission Center at Xieng Khouang. The Father 

answers that he does not want to leave his Christians, for he is the only one at Ban Pha 

to take care of them, while at Xieng Khouang there are already several Fathers. 

They ask him to give them his revolver. He tells them that he does not have one, and 

that he has never had one; he is a priest. They want to search him. He takes off his 

cassock and his shirt without being asked. In his pockets, they find his rosary and his 

handkerchief; thatôs all. Having dressed again, he goes into the house accompanied by 

two soldiers who immediately confiscate his shotgun and quickly forage through the 

room looking for the famous revolver; they speak among themselves in Vietnamese. 

Anna wonders if the so-called revolver is not merely the large cross that the Father 

wears in his cinctureé Finally the soldiers go out after some polite words. The Father 

goes to the chapel to pray and tells Anna also to pray a lot. 

Scarcely a half-hour later (11:30), a large group of guerillas come to Father Leroy. A 

few moments later, Anna, who is at home preparing a meal, sees everyone leave. The 

Father has closed the windows and the door, put the keys in his pocket and leaves ahead 

of five or six soldiers: bare headed, barefoot, in his cassock with his cross in his cincture 

and his breviary under his arm. Passing in front of Annaôs house, he answers her 

question: ñI am going to see the commandant who is asking for me.ò Other soldiers stay 

in front of the house, forbidding access. 

Around 2 in the afternoon, some soldiers return; they have the keys and the tell Anna, 

who has asked where the Father is: ñHe has left for Xieng Khouang; we have come to 

take inventory and sort through his things.ò 

In the evening, around 8, the village population was assembled for a khosana ï a 

propaganda meeting. ñThe Father has not been killed,ò they say, ñalthough he is a spy 

and a traitor. He is evil. He has been taken to Xieng Khouang; later on, a better one will 

come to replace him.ò 

Two or three days later, the guerilla soldiers totally ransacked the mission: they tear up 

images and burn whatever they cannot carry of. 
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The day of Father Leroyôs capture, a woman from Ban Pha Teu saw the Father passing 

by, surrounded by soldiers, in a rice field on the edge of the village. A short time later, 

she heard several shots and thought they were killing the Father, not far from there, in 

the forest. In the afternoon, a group of women from the same village, while going out 

to get wood for heating, came upon some soldiers who chased them away. They hurried 

home frightened. On the following days, they spotted in the forest, in that same place, 

a new grave which someone had tried to make look old by covering it with twigs and 

dead leaves. It is whispered that the Father is buried there and no one dares to go closer. 

 

Father Pierre Chevroulet, o.m.i., adds some notes to this stor 2 

When they took inventory of the church, Anna managed to save the Blessed Sacrament 

and the sacred vessels. Later, at the beginning of May, she would recognize the grave 

and would purchase it in the conviction that the Father is really buried there. This would 

be confirmed years later when a Father was able to return to the place. 

Bishop £tienne Loosdregtôs document is dated June 15, nearly two months after the 

fact. It took him that long to find out what had happened. The guerilla soldiers, who 

have never admitted their deed, have tried by all means to cover over the truth of their 

actions. We read in the codex historicus of Xieng Khouang the account of all the steps 

taken in vain by Father Henri Rouzière3, o.m.i., superior of Louis Leroy, to get 

information on his disappearance and that of his colleague, Father Michel Coquelet. 
 
 
 
  

                                                 
2  Pierre Chevroulet, o.m.i., 1924-2004, arrived in Laos in 1956; he was the provincial superior of the Oblates 

of Laos from 1964 till 1970. 
3  Henri Rouzière, o.m.i., 1919-1994, arrived in Laos in 1947. 
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Resources for the biography of Father Louis Leroy 

 

Unpublished resources: 
 

Statements of direct witnesses: 

 

ï Bishop Louis-Marie Ling Mangkhanekhoun, Vicar Apostolic of Paksé 

ï Bishop Alessandro Staccioli, o.m.i., former Vicar Apostolic of Louang Prabang 

ï Père Lucien Bouchard, o.m.i. 

ï Father Jean-Marie Chuffart, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Armand Clabaut, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Ernest Dumont, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Alexis Fuseau, o.m.i. 

ï Father Jean Gaudin, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Jean Hanique, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Lucien Jolly, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Yvon LôH®noret, o.m.i. 

ï Father René Motte, o.m.i. (+)  

ï Father Jean-Marie Ollivier, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Joseph Pillain, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Gérard Sion, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Father Jean Subra, o.m.i. (+) 

ï Mrs. Anne Boun 

ï Mr. Paul Moune (+) 
 

Documents 

 

General Archives O.M.I., Rome, Dossier Louis Leroy 

ï Notes et documents divers concernant la formation religieuse et sacerdotale de Louis Leroy. 

ï Various letters of Louis Leroy, 1949-1958, notably: 

Letter of Louis Leroy to the Superior General for the first obedience, January 6, 1955. 

ï Hand-written note of E. Loosdregt « pour le nécrologe OMI », and various press clippings. 

ï Anonymous report on the death of Fathers Leroy and Coquelet (original and carbon copy), 2 sheets.  

ï Report of Fr. Rouzière, 8 June 1961, « Événements de Ban-Pha » (carbon copy), 2 sheets, with a note of 
Étienne Loosdregt 

ï Letter of Jean Drouart to Jean Hanique, 21 September 1961 (cargon copy), 2 sheets  

 

General Archives O.M.I., Rome, other dossiers 

ï Codex Historicus of Ban Pha 1950-1959: Box B-402, doc. H a 63. 

ï Codex Historicus of Xieng-Khouang 1957-1963: Box B-403, doc. H a 68, cahier 4.  

ï Letter de Bishop Étienne Loosdregt to Father Léo Deschâtelets, 24 June 1959: ibid., Dossier ñLetters 
Deschêtelets 1958-1960.ò 

ï Collective letter signed by Louis Leroy, 17 November 1959 : Box 35 ñLoosdregt, E. # 4630ò, Dossier 
ñLetters Drouart 1959-1960ò. 

ï Étienne Loosdregt, o.m.i., « Quelques nouvelles du Laos, ce 17 mai 1961 è, dossier Vincent LôH®noret; 
other news bulletins coming from Laos, not categorized.  

ï Codex historicus of the Seminary of Paksane, 3 May 1961: é 

ï Letter de Jean Hanique to Jean Drouart, 15 September 1961 : PFXI/1, dossier Jean Hanique. 

ï Letter of Jean Drouart, o.m.i., to Léo Deschâtelets, o.m.i., 3 April 1964, dossier Jean Wauthier. 

ï Jean Subra, o.m.i., various dossiers and unpublished texts « £vang®lisation des Kmhmuô », General 
Archives O.M.I., O.M.I. Library, not categorized. 
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Archives of the OMI Province of France, Marseille 

ï Dossier Louis Leroy 

 

Archives of the Postulation 

ï Letters of Louis Leroy to his relatives, 1953-1960. 

ï Letters of Louis Leroy to the Carmelites of Limoges, 1955-1960. 

ï Letters of Father Yvon LôH®noret, o.m.i., 23 May, 10 June et 19 July 1961. 

ï Pierre Chevroulet, o.m.i., « Étude sur la persécution au Laos (1954-1975) ». 
 

Published resources: 
 

Books 

ï Pierre Chevroulet, o.m.i., Oblats au bord du Mékong, Rome, O.M.I., 1998 (collection « Héritage oblat » 
n° 14); text reprinted under the title « Oblats témoins de la foi au Laos » in Documentation OMI n° 229 
(1999), p. 2-31 ; 2e éd. : Oblats témoins de la foi au Laos, Fontenay-sous-Bois, O.M.I., 2000. 

 

Articles 

ï Missions O.M.I.: 1963, p. 508 ; 1966, vol. b, p. 548 ; 1968, p. 6. 

ï « Scoperta nel Laos la tomba del Padre Leroy », Osservatore romano, 9-10 sept. 1963 

ï Henri Reignat, o.m.i., « Pourquoi sont-ils partis si t¹té ? », Petites Annales, March-April, 1968, pp. 1-4. 

ï « Laos : terre déchirée et hasardeuse. Cette drôle de guerre a tué cinq Oblats », LôApostolat des 
Missionnaires Oblats de Marie Immaculée (Richelieu, Canada), November 1964. 

ï Angelo Pelis, o.m.i., « Martiri del Laos », Missioni OMI, n° 7/2005, pp. 14-17. 
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III  

 

At the service of all adversity:  

 

 

Father Michel Coquelet, o.m.i.  

 

(1931 ï 1961)  

 
Biographical Notes 

 
Provisional text by Roland Jacques, o.m.i., 

Diocesan Postulator 
 
 

Postulation des Martyrs du Laos 
94120 Fontenay-sous-Bois, France 

November 2011 

 

In every town where you enter and where they welcome you, eat what they serve you;  
heal the sick and tell the people:  
ñThe Kingdom of God is near you.ò  

Gospel of Luke 10, 8-9 

 

The poorest whom people reject, once they are trusted,  
once they trust us, everything changes.  

Joseph Wresinski, Rapport moral 1981-1982 du Mouvement International ATD Quart Monde 
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Father Michel Coquelet, o.m.i. (1931 ï 1961) 

Witness of Jesus Christ in Laos 

Died for the faith on 20 April 1961 at Sop Xieng 
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The childhood years 

Michel COQUELET was born on August 18, 1931, in northern France, at Wignehies (59), in 

the bosom of a modest working and actively Christian family. He was baptized on the following 

August 23 in the villageôs parish church which belongs to the diocese of Cambrai. 

His father, Louis, was an electrician at E.D.F.; his mother, Françoise Grassart, was a 

professional stenographer who quit her job to take care of the children. Michel was the third, 

after Denyse (3 years old) and Jean-Louis (18 months). Three other children, Raymond, Marie 

and Thérèse, would come along to enrich and give joy to the household later on, between 1937 

and 1946. Together, they made a joyful and closely united family, as attested to by their 

correspondence with Michel ï 228 of his letters to his family have been kept, back and forth 

from 1948 till the eve of his death ï which came upon him by surprise when he had not yet 

turned 30. 

Michel will barely remember these old family places: when he was five, the family moved 30 

km farther on, to a little village of Puiseaux in the Loiret (March 1936). It was there that he 

would enter school. The studious and mischievous little scholar, at the end of the following 

school year, together with his two older siblings, received the Honor Prize, the highest award. 

  

Puiseaux (Loiret) : parish church ïï The old boysô primary school 

This distinction won by his three children earned their father the congratulations of the mayor. 

Until then newcomers, now they were well established in the town! ñThe mother, a model 

Christian,ò says a witness, ñmust have hardly slept. Six well-kempt children and many hours 

at church serviceséò 

 

At the end of 1931, when Michel was still 

in diapers, his parents left the North to 

move to Chaintreaux near Nemours en 

Seine-et-Marne; they lived in the hamlet 

of Grande Borde, amidst the beet and 

wheat fields. 


